DA 2-6-51

RILLED

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 19 1990

CLERK SALES COUR

DELORES SMITH, ET VIR.,

Petitioners,

vs.

JACK ECKERD CORPORATION,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 76,004

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, 1ST DISTRICT - NO. 88-02775

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

PENLAND & PENLAND, P.A.

S. PERRY PENLAND, JR., ESQUIRE Florida Bar #320201
1113 Blackstone Building Jacksonville, FL 32202
(904) 632-2100

Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In this Initial Brief, the plaintiff below, appellee at the District Court level, and petitioner here, Delores Smith, will be referred to as "Smith". The defendant below, appellant at the District Court level, and respondent here, Jack Eckerd Corporation, will be referred to as "Eckerd". The trial transcript will be referred to as "T". The record on appeal will be referred as "R".

THE CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the First District Court of Appeal dated March 9, 1990, reported at 558 So. 2d 1060. Eckerd had previously appealed to the First District Court of Appeal the denial of its Motion for Directed Verdict, or in the Alternative Motion for New Trial, or in the Alternative Motion for Remittitur. (R. 28 - 30). That motion had been denied by the trial judge by order dated September 29, 1988 (R. 42) and Eckerd timely filed its Notice of Appeal to the First District Court of Appeal. (R. 44). The First District by a two to one vote, with Justice Zehmer dissenting with opinion, reversed the jury's award of punitive damages but affirmed the judgment in all other respects. Smith appeals to this court the reversal of the punitive damage award.

This lawsuit originally arose with the filing of the plaintiff's initial Complaint on October 6, 1987. (R. 1). Smith claimed to have sustained injuries and damages during her detention and arrest at Eckerd's drug store, 5415 Norwood Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida, on February 15, 1986. Smith proceeded to trial on theories of false imprisonment and malicious prosecution

claiming both compensatory and punitive damages. (R. 1-4).

Eckerd filed an Amended Answer denying the allegations of Smith's Complaint. (R. 11). The case came on to trial on Smith's initial Complaint and a jury trial commenced on August 22, 1988. (R. 12). The jury returned a verdict in favor of Smith awarding her \$25,000.00 in compensatory damages and \$100,000.00 in punitive damages. (R. 23 - 24). Eckerd then filed its Motion for Directed Verdict or in the Alternative, Motion for New Trial, or in the Alternative, Motion for Remittitur (R. 28-30), which was denied by the trial judge. An appeal followed to the First District Court of Appeal who affirmed the compensatory damage award but reversed the award of punitive damages.

Smith then petitioned this court for certiorari jurisdiction. This court, by its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument, dated October 29, 1990, accepted jurisdiction of this case.

THE FACTS

On February 15, 1986, Smith went to the Eckerd drug store located at 5415 Norwood Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida, to pick up some prescription medication for her nerves. (T. 224, 242). Upon entering the store, Smith proceeded to the back of the store to pick up her two prescriptions. She was enrolled on a Travelers Insurance plan and her prescriptions cost only the deductible amount of \$1.00 each because of this plan. (T. 224-225).

At the pharmacy, Smith spoke to Maurice Hodges, a clerk on duty, who delivered to Smith her prescriptions. Smith attempted to pay him with a \$20.00 bill for the prescriptions, but he informed Smith that the cash register at the rear of the store in the pharmacy was closed and she would have to pay for the prescriptions at one of the registers at the front of the store. (T. 228). Smith picked up some household items on the way to one of the cash registers in the front of the store.

Smith testified she placed the prescriptions and the household items on the counter of Elizabeth Robinson, Eckerd's cashier. Elizabeth Robinson rang up the household items, but failed to ring up the prescriptions. The household items totalled \$11.18. Smith gave the cashier a \$20.00 bill and received \$8.82 in change. (T. 229 - 231).

Smith proceeded to exit the store. An anti-shoplifting checkpoint alarm system at the exit door was activated. (T. 231). The checkpoint alarm system in the store is activated by a tag on merchandise which is normally detuned and deactivated upon receipt

of payment. (T. 297, 315). After hearing the checkpoint alarm, Smith voluntarily returned to Elizabeth Robinson's counter where she had made her initial purchases. (T. 232). Eckerd's assistant manager, Alfred Lederer approached Smith as she and Elizabeth Robinson, the cashier, were discussing what had set off the alarm. Smith testified that she took the prescription medication out of her purse and suggested to Lederer and Robinson that perhaps the prescriptions had set off the alarm. Lederer examined Smith's receipt and determined that the prescriptions had not been rung up. Lederer then went to the pharmacy in the rear of the store and spoke with Maurice Hodges, the clerk at the pharmacy. (T. 234-236).

Maurice Hodges informed the assistant manager that Smith had attempted to pay him for the prescriptions and that he had instructed her to pay for the prescription at one of the cash registers in the front of the store. (T. 316 - 317).

Smith testified that she later paid Elizabeth Robinson, the cashier, for the prescriptions and that this was done in the presence of Lederer, the assistant manager. (T. 237 - 238). The receipt showing the \$2.00 prescription purchase was entered into evidence at trial, as plaintiff's exhibit number 2. Lederer later took the prescriptions back from Smith and refused to return them claiming that they were "evidence" (T. 243), even though Smith pleaded with him to give her back the nerve medication because of her state of upset. (R. 242).

The assistant manager failed to bother to even ask Elizabeth

Robinson, the cashier, what had happened when she rang up Smith's purchases shortly before the checkpoint alarm being activated. (T. 303; 309 - 310). He further testified of his failure to question his cashier whatsoever before calling the police, despite his knowledge that he must make a thorough investigation of the facts before making such a serious accusation. (T. 308). He also testified that since he was in charge of the store at that time, he would be responsible to make a thorough investigation of the facts before calling the police. (T. 308).

The assistant manager then called the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office to the store. (T. 197). Officer Green responded to the call. Officer Green testified that he relied on the assistant manager to truthfully relay the facts to him so that he could determine whether there was probable cause for police action. (T. 215). Officer Green further testified that Lederer did not inform him of the existence of any other witnesses and that he relied upon Lederer to provide him with such information. (T. 216). Officer Green was also never informed that Smith actually paid for the prescriptions prior to his arrival. (T. 321 - 322).

Officer Green issued a citation to Smith charging her with petit theft. (T. 211).

Smith entered a plea of not guilty to the petit theft charges and demanded a trial by jury. She was represented by defense attorney, David Douglas, at the misdemeanor petit theft trial. Prior to the trial, Douglas had deposed Maurice Hodges, the clerk, and Elizabeth Robinson, the cashier. Elizabeth Robinson's

testimony greatly favored Smith and her innocence. Douglas had a great deal of trouble locating Elizabeth Robinson for the trial in the criminal case. (T. 155 - 157). After the selection of the jury, and shortly before the jury was to be sworn and opening statements were to commence, Elizabeth Robinson suddenly appeared at the rear of the courtroom. The State Attorney, Geoffrey Welsh, asked for a recess. He verified the identity of Elizabeth Robinson and then nol prossed all charges against Smith. (T. 158 - 164).

At the civil trial, it was stipulated that Eckerd had a net worth of \$1,184,368,713.00. (T. 367).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As to Issue I, the facts in the case at bar are no less egregious than the facts in Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Robinson and Griffith v. Shamrock Village, Inc. Both of those cases involved claims for punitive damages which were affirmed. The lack of investigation in Robinson is comparable to that experienced by Smith, except the assistant manager in the case at bar went a step further when concealing witnesses and the fact that payment had been made for the prescriptions in question prior to the arrival of the police. The degree of gross negligence exhibited in the Griffith case by the defendant failing to relay a telephone message to the plaintiff concerning the change in location of his brother's wedding is comparable to the degree of conduct exhibited by Eckerd. As a result, the case at bar is controlled by Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Robinson and Griffith v. Shamrock Village, Inc. and the jury's award of punitive damages should be reinstated.

As to Issue II, fraudulent misrepresentations were made by Eckerd's assistant manager when he first called the police then concealed witnesses, concealed the fact that payment had been made for the prescriptions in question, and represented that a complete investigation had been made when one had not been made. The assistant manager was aware that the alleged shoplifting incident originated at the cash register of Elizabeth Robinson. He was also aware that Smith had picked up the prescriptions in question from Maurice Hodges, and that Smith had also attempted to pay him for the prescriptions. He was also aware that payment had been made by

Smith for the prescription, and that she had a receipt. The assistant manager had failed to even ask Elizabeth Robinson, the cashier, what had happened when she rang up Smith's other purchases shortly before the checkpoint alarm sounded. Instead, he represented to the police that he was the only witness and that a complete investigation had been made pointing to the alleged guilt of Smith. These misrepresentations and concealments rise to a level of fraud that would support an award of punitive damages.

As to Issue III, with respect to Eckerd's Motion for Directed Verdict on the issue of punitive damages, the District Court majority failed to consider the facts and their inferences in the light most favorable to Smith, the non-moving party. Instead, the majority considered the facts and their inferences in the light most favorable to the wrong party when reversing the jury's award of punitive damages. That reversal should not be allowed to stand based on their erroneous application of the law to the facts.

ARGUMENT - ISSUE I

ISSUE - DOES WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC. V. ROBINSON, 472
SO. 2D 722 (FLA. 1985) AND GRIFFITH V.
SHAMROCK VILLAGE, INC., 94 SO. 2D 854 (FLA.
1957) CONTROL AS TO THE CASE AT BAR IN THAT
THOSE TWO CASES INVOLVED COMPARABLE DEGREES OF
EGREGIOUS CONDUCT WHICH SUPPORTED AWARDS OF
PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

ANSWER - The case at bar is controlled by <u>Winn-Dixie v. Robinson</u> and <u>Griffith v. Shamrock Village, Inc.</u> in that both cases involve facts which supported awards of punitive damages comparable to the facts in the case at bar.

The case at bar involves claims by Delores Smith, and her husband, Wilbur Smith for causes of action involving malicious The jury found for the prosecution and false imprisonment. plaintiff, Delores Smith and awarded her \$25,000.00 in compensatory damages and \$100,000.00 in punitive damages. The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the award of compensatory damages but reversed the award of punitive damages finding that the evidence failed to show a "willful and wanton disregard of plaintiff's rights, excessive or reckless disregard of plaintiff's rights, or any other outrageous conduct sufficient to support an award of punitive damages". (Page 1064 of the opinion). The court further went on to hold that "As in Gazelle, the evidence shows the initiation of prosecution without sufficient investigation or probable cause, but does not demonstrate willful or wanton misconduct". (Page 1064 of the opinion).

The dissent of Justice Zehmer interpreted the facts differently. Justice Zehmer stated,

"The facts in this case are no less egregious than the facts in Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Robinson (cite omitted) and Griffith v. Shamrock Village, Inc. (cite omitted). The majority ruling in this case that the lack of investigation by the Defendant was 'an honest albeit mistaken effort' leaves this decision in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in Robinson. It is an error to take the punitive damage issue from the jury. I would affirm the judgment in all respect." (Page 1066 of the opinion).

In evaluating Eckerd's Motion for Directed Verdict on the claim for punitive damages, all evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to Smith, the non-moving party. Urling v. Helms Exterminators, Inc., 468 So. 2d 451 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); American Automobile Association, Inc. v. Tehrani, 508 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Teare v. Local Union No. 295, 98 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 1957), and; Hardware Mut. Cas. Co. v. Tampa Electric Co., 60 So. 2d 179 (Fla. 1952), and; Tiny's Liquors, Inc. v. Davis, 353 So. 2d 168 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). The operative facts viewed in the light most favorable to Smith which would support the jury's punitive damage verdict are as follows:

1. Delores Smith, late at night, went to a 24 hour Eckerd Drug Store and attempted to pay for her prescriptions at the pharmacy at the back of the store with a \$20.00 bill. Her two prescriptions, because of her insurance plan, only cost the deductible of \$1.00 per prescription for a total of \$2.00. She was told by Maurice Hodges, a clerk in the rear of the store, that the register at the pharmacy

was closed and to pay up front.

- 2. On the way to the front cash register, Smith picked up various household items.
- 3. Smith presented the prescriptions, as well as the household items for payment.
- 4. Elizabeth Robinson, the cashier, failed to ring up the prescriptions, but did ring up the household items. Smith paid her charges of \$11.12 with a \$20.00 bill and received back \$8.82 in change.
- 5. Upon exiting the store, a check point alarm went off and then Smith voluntarily returned to Elizabeth Robinson's counter. In an attempt to figure out what set off the alarm, it was Smith herself, who suggested the prescriptions might have been the cause.
- 6. The assistant manager, Alfred Lederer, heard the alarm go off and went to Elizabeth Robinson's counter. He then talked to the clerk, Maurice Hodges, in the back of the store and learned that Smith attempted to pay for the prescriptions in the back of the store.
- 7. The assistant manager never even asked Elizabeth Robinson if Smith had attempted to pay for the prescriptions in question. Later,

Smith did pay for the prescriptions in question in the presence of the assistant manager, and the receipt was introduced into evidence at trial.

- 8. The assistant manager called the police and purposely concealed the only two witnesses to this incident, more particularly, Maurice Hodges and Elizabeth Robinson, as well as the fact that Smith had already paid for the prescriptions. Instead, the assistant manager told the police that he was the only witness, a fraudulent statement which was relied upon by the police.
- 9. The police officer relying on the fraudulent misrepresentation of the assistant manager did no investigation. The assistant manager was aware of this. The police officer proceeded to cite Smith for the crime of shoplifting and the prosecution began.

The operative facts in the <u>Winn-Dixie Stores</u>, <u>Inc. v. Robinson</u> are as follows:

- 1. Robinson was from the Bahamas. He went to the Winn-Dixie Store to purchase various goods for resale in the Bahamas.
- 2. Robinson had purchased items from Winn-Dixie on a prior day and returned to the Winn-

Dixie Store on a later day to purchase more items.

- 3. After making the subsequent purchases, Robinson was helped to his vehicle by a Winn-Dixie employee who saw the previous day's purchases in the vehicle and concluded that Robinson was a shoplifter.
- 4. Robinson returned to the Winn-Dixie Store and was arrested and prosecuted for shoplifting.

This court approved an award of punitive damages based upon those operative facts.

The operative facts in the case of <u>Griffith v. Shamrock</u>
<u>Village, Inc.</u> are as follows:

- 1. The plaintiff, Rufus A. Griffith was a tenant of the defendant, Shamrock Village, Inc.
- 2. Griffith did not have a telephone in his room, but there was a telephone in the office.
- 3. One of Griffith's family members attempted to call Griffith by calling the office and left Griffith a message. The message concerned the fact that the location of Griffith's brother's wedding had been moved.
- 4. The defendant never gave the message to Griffith and Griffith travelled to the wrong

location and missed his brother's wedding in which he was to be the best man.

This court held that those facts should have been submitted to the jury to consider the issue of punitive damages.

In the case at bar, Delores Smith suffered an equivalent degree of indignation when compared to the ordeal experienced by Robinson. Smith's experiences are even more extreme than those experienced by Griffith as a result of the gross negligence of Shamrock Village, Inc. These three sets of facts are certainly comparable in terms of the gravity of conduct inflicted upon the plaintiffs.

The majority in the opinion below relies primarily upon the cases of Winn & Lovett Grocery Co. v. Archer, 717 So. 214, (Fla. 1936), and Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Gazelle, 523 So. 2d 648 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). As pointed out by Justice Zehmer in his dissent, the facts in the Winn & Lovett Grocery Co. v. Archer case are much different than the facts in the case at bar. Mary Archer was never arrested or charged with any crime, unlike Smith. Mary Archer was briefly detained while store personnel and a policeman questioned her about some goods in her possession that had been purchased from another store. Once they confirmed that these goods had, in fact, been purchased from another store, Archer was allowed to leave and the matter was dropped. This court, based upon those operative facts, affirmed an award of compensatory damages but not an award of punitive damages. The ordeal experienced by Archer is much different than the ordeal experienced by Delores Smith.

The operative facts in the case of <u>Winn-Dixie Stores</u>, <u>Inc. v.</u>

Gazelle are as follows:

- 1. Gregory Gazelle and his wife, Lorena Mae Gazelle had a joint checking account.
- 2. Mr. Gazelle was in the Navy. While away on duty, Mrs. Gazelle forged nine checks by signing her husband's name.
- 3. Winn-Dixie wrote to the Gazelle's address four times, once by registered mail, to notify Mr. Gazelle of the bad checks.
- 4. Winn-Dixie complied with the notice requirement of Florida Statute \$832.07, the prerequisite for bad check criminal prosecution.
- 5. Upon returning from duty, Mr. Gazelle was arrested for the checks and those charges were later dropped upon discovering the forgery.

The First District Court of Appeal in that case held the facts sufficient to sustain an award of compensatory damages for malicious prosecution but insufficient to sustain an award of punitive damages.

When comparing the conduct of Winn-Dixie to the conduct of Eckerd, it is readily apparent that Eckerd acted with a degree of reckless indifference to the rights of Smith which is totally absent in the conduct of Winn-Dixie. Winn-Dixie never concealed eyewitnesses, nor concealed that payment had been made for items

allegedly stolen, nor affirmatively misrepresent the extent of its investigation before initiating criminal proceedings.

The District Court majority in the opinion below invites comparison in the case at bar to the cases of Cardenas v. Miami-Dade Yellow Cab Company, 538 So. 2d 491 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) and K-Mart Corporation v. Sellars, 387 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). The Cardenas v. Miami-Dade Yellow Cab Company case arose when a security guard at a condominium mistakenly thought that the plaintiff had taken one of the condominium's pool chairs in a taxi as he left the condominium. The security guard then called the cab company who radioed the cab driver to return with the plaintiff to the condominium. The cab driver verified that the plaintiff did not have one of the condominium's pool chairs, but in fact, had a stroller which was used by the plaintiff's son who suffered from muscular dystrophy. In spite of this verification, the cab driver obeyed his dispatcher and returned the plaintiff to the condominium.

The Third District Court of Appeal held that the issue of punitive damages should have been submitted to the jury concerning claims against the cab driver and the dispatcher.

In the <u>K-Mart Corporation v. Sellars</u> case, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed an award of punitive damages where K-Mart, based upon an admittedly inaccurate inventory, had the plaintiff prosecuted for petit theft. The plaintiff was a delivery truck driver and was believed to be shorting his bread deliveries to the defendant's store.

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