OA 2-6.51

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DELORES SMITH, et vir.,

Petitioners,

JACK ECKERD CORPORATION,

Respondent.

vs.

SID J. WHITE

DEC 1 1 1990

CLERK, SUMRIME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.:

76,004

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT - NO. 88-02775

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

MARKS, GRAY, CONROY & GIBBS, P.A.

JEPTHA F. BARBOUR, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0347000 QLIFFORD C. HIGBY, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0793809 Post Office Box 447

Jacksonville, Florida 32201

(904) 398-0900

Attorneys for Respondent Jack Eckerd Corporation

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court's cases of <u>Winn Dixie Stores</u>, <u>Inc. v. Robinson</u>, 472 So.2d 772 (Fla. 1985) and <u>Griffith v. Shamrock Village</u>, 94 So.2d 854 (Fla. 1957) are not controlling as they are legally and factually dissimilar from the case at bar. Unlike the case at bar, the sufficiency of the evidence to support an award of punitive damages was not an issue in <u>Winn Dixie Stores</u>, <u>Inc. v. Robinson</u>. The "gross negligence" standard for the imposition of punitive damages set forth in <u>Griffith v. Shamrock Village</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, has been eliminated by subsequent decisions of this Court.

Winn Dixie Stores, Inc v. Robinson., is factually distinguishable from the case at bar in that there was no investigation whatsoever by the Winn Dixie employees and they falsely concluded the merchandise had not been paid for. Griffith v. Shamrock Village is factually distinguishable from the case at bar in that the defendant's conduct involved an intentional misrepresentation.

The instant case should be controlled by this Court's decision of Winn & Lovett Grocery Co. v. Archer, 126 Fla. 308, 171 So. 214 (Fla. 1936). The conduct displayed by defendant's employees in Winn & Lovett was much more egregious than the conduct of the Eckerd assistant manager in the case at bar, yet this Court found that punitive damages were not justified in Winn & Lovett.

Public policy requires that merchants be able to investigate where shoplifting is reasonably suspected and contact law enforcement officials if necessary. A dangerous precedent would be set should this court hold that a negligent investigation or negligent misrepresentations will subject a merchant to punitive damages.

Petitioner's contention that fraudulent misrepresentations can support an award of punitive damages in this case is not well founded. Fraud nor misrepresentation were alleged or proven at trial. There is no evidence in the record of "intentional misconduct", a necessary element of fraud. While proof of fraud necessarily renders punitive damages a jury question, punitive damages are not necessarily or automatically a jury question in a malicious prosecution, false imprisonment case, such as the instant case.

There is no evidence that the Eckerd's assistant manager intentionally concealed two witnesses to the incident nor that he "knew" those witnesses had exculpatory information. That the prescription in question was paid for after the assistant manager's investigation began is not relevant. There is no evidence that the Eckerd's assistant manager intentionally concealed this fact. There is no support in the record for the contention that the assistant manager represented to the investigating officer that a "complete investigation" had been made. It is not reasonable to conclude that the assistant manager "knew" that the investigating officer would not

investigate the matter himself when the assistant manager called the officer to the scene to investigate and determine whether an arrest was called for.

The district court of appeal viewed the evidence in a light most favorable to the plaintiff and properly concluded that there was no evidence the assistant manager had been deliberately untruthful or that he recklessly or deliberately disregarded exculpating facts. The district court's ruling was based on a <u>lack of evidence</u>, not an improper re-weighing of the evidence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I. WINN DIXIE STORES, INC. V. ROBINSON, 472 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1985), AND GRIFFITH V. SHAMROCK VILLAGE, INC., 94 So.2d 854 (Fla. 1957), ARE LEGALLY AND FACTUALLY DISSIMILAR AND SHOULD NOT CONTROL THE CASE AT BAR.

Petitioner cites the cases of Winn Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Robinson, 472 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1985), and Griffith v. Shamrock Village, Inc., 94 So.2d 854 (Fla. 1957), as controlling law on the issue of whether or not there was sufficient evidence in the trial record to support an award of punitive damages. Petitioner further quotes from Justice Zehmer's dissent, "the facts in this case are no less egregious than the facts in Winn Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Robinson and Griffith v. Shamrock Village." [Opinion at 1066] The legal and factual issues involved in Winn Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Robinson and Griffith v. Shamrock Village are dissimilar from those in the instant case. Furthermore, the legal standard applied by this Court in Griffith v. Shamrock Village has been significantly modified by recent decisions of this Court and is not applicable here.

A. The sufficiency of the evidence to support an award of punitive damages was not at issue in <u>Winn Dixie Stores</u>, <u>Inc. v. Robinson</u>, 472 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1985).

The <u>Winn Dixie v. Robinson</u> case has been cited by petitioner for the proposition that this Court held that the conduct of the Winn Dixie employees in failing to do an investigation for shoplifting was sufficient to justify an award of punitive damages. However, whether the evidence was

sufficient to support an award of punitive damages based upon the employees' conduct was not an issue on appeal in Winn Dixie The issue on appeal regarding punitive damages v. Robinson. was whether the trial court erred in granting Winn Dixie's post trial motion for directed verdict as to punitive damages on the basis that the plaintiff, Robinson, had not alleged nor proved some "fault" on the part of Winn Dixie so as to make it vicariously liable for punitive damages under the case of Mercury Motors Express, Inc. v. Smith, 393 So.2d 545 (Fla. The district court reversed the directed verdict 1981). because it determined that Mercury Motors did not apply since vicarious liability was not an issue at trial and because there was evidence of some "fault", satisfying the requirement of This Court approved of the district court's Mercury Motors. decision reversing the directed verdict on punitive damages. Thus, contrary to petitioners assertion, the sufficiency of the evidence as to the conduct of the Winn Dixie employees was not an issue in Robinson and it is therefore distinguishable from the case at bar.

> B. Griffith v. Shamrock Village, Inc., 94 So.2d 854 (Fla. 1957) does not control the case at bar as it does not set forth the applicable standard for the imposition of punitive damages.

In <u>Griffith v. Shamrock Village, Inc.</u>, this Court reversed a trial court order directing a verdict on the issue of punitive damages. 94 So.2d at 855. Plaintiff sought compensatory and punitive damages due to the alleged gross

negligence of the defendant in failing to deliver an important telephone message to the plaintiff. The court found:

Since the trial judge allowed the claim for punitive damages to remain in the complaint until after all evidence had been submitted at the trial, it seems to us that he reasoned as we have here that punitive damages can be recovered in actions such as this and that malice may be imputed to defendant from gross negligence, i.e., a want of slight care. (Emphasis added).

94 So.2d at 858.

Village, Inc., in 1957, this Court has rendered decisions which have changed and eliminated the "gross negligence" standard for imposing punitive damages adhered to in the <u>Griffith</u> case.

U.S. Concrete Pipe Co. v. Bould, 437 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1983);

White Construction Co. v. Dupont, 455 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1984);

Como Oil Company, Inc. v. O'Loughlin, 466 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1985); American Cyanamid v. Roy, 498 So.2d 859 (Fla. 1986); and Chrysler Corporation v. Wolmer, 499 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1986).

In <u>White Construction Co. v. Dupont</u>, this Court addressed the evidentiary standard necessary to sustain an award of punitive damages and reaffirmed that "the character of negligence necessary to sustain a conviction for manslaughter is the same as that required to sustain a recovery for punitive damages." 455 So.2d at 1028, quoting <u>Carraway v. Revell</u>, 116 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1959). In <u>White Construction Co.</u>, this Court specifically found that "something more than gross negligence is needed to justify the imposition of punitive damages". 455

So.2d at 1028. In American Cyanamid Co. v. Roy, this Court reaffirmed the standards set forth in White Construction Co. and urged "restraint upon the courts to ensure that the defendant's behavior represents more than even gross negligence prior to allowing the imposition of punitive damages." 498 So.2d at 861. The standard of "gross negligence" which was sufficient basis for the imposition of punitive damages in Griffith v. Shamrock, is clearly no longer sufficient for the imposition of punitive damages under this Court's decisions since Griffith.

In <u>Hospital Corp. of Lake Worth v. Romaguera</u>, 511 So.2d 559 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), cited by the district court below in its opinion at page 1064, the Fourth District Court of Appeal addressed the issue of sufficiency of the evidence to sustain an award of punitive damages for tortious interference with a business relationship. On rehearing solely on the issue of punitive damages, the Fourth District cited many of this Court's decisions on punitive damages and stated:

There appears to be little doubt that the Florida Supreme Court has severely limited the availability of punitive damages in products liability cases and those involving employer negligence. Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co., 498 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1986); American Cyanamid Co. v. Roy, 498 So.2d 859 (Fla. 1986); Wackenhut Corp. v. Canty; Chrysler Corp. v. Wolmer, As we read 499 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1986). these decisions, the culpable behavior required to "express society's collective outrage," American Cyanamid Co., 498 So.2d at 861, consists of a "reckless disregard for human life equivalent to manslaughter." Chrysler Corp., 499 So.2d at 825.

also, Celotex Corp. v. Pickett, 490 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1986). . . . However, as the court noted in American Cyanamid Co. v. Roy, punitive damages are only tenable for "[t]ruly culpable behavior . . . to express society's collective outrage . . . " As the Supreme Court has also expressed it, in order to sustain a claim for punitive damages, the tort must be committed in "an outrageous manner or with fraud, malice, wantonness or oppression." Winn & Lovett Grocery Co. v. Archer.

Through a long line of decisions, this Court has attempted to "mark the line at which point behavior becomes sufficiently culpable to merit societal sanctions" through the imposition of punitive damages. American Cyanamid Co. v. Roy, 498 So.2d 859, 861 (Fla. 1986). The message from these cases has been clear, and it would be contrary to the reasoning of these cases to hold that a negligent investigation and subsequent call to police, "without recommendation or rancor" [Opinion at p.1064] would subject a store merchant to punitive damages. The evidentiary standard of gross negligence applied by this Court in Griffith is no longer applicable, and the district court properly ruled that the question of punitive damages should not have been decided by the jury.

C. The conduct of the Eckerd assistant store manager is dissimilar in nature and extent from the conduct in Winn Dixie v. Robinson and Griffith v. Shamrock Village.

Whether the facts of a particular case bring the case within the rule allowing punitive damages is a question of law for the court, and only when there is evidence that punitive damages can properly be awarded may the issue be sent to the

jury. Winn & Lovett Grocery Store Co. v. Archer, 126 Fla. 306, 171 So. 214 (Fla. 1936); Dr. P. Phillips & Sons v. Kilgore, 152 Fla. 578, 12 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1943); White Construction Co., Inc. v. Dupont, 455 So.2d 1026 So.2d (Fla. 1984); Taylor v. Gunter Trucking Company, 520 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), rev. den. 531 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1988). The record in the instant case is void of any evidence suggesting that Eckerd's store manager, Alfred Lederer, acted with malice, moral turpitude, wantonness, willfulness or reckless indifference to the rights of Delores Smith.

At most, the evidence in the instant case shows a negligent investigation on the part of Alfred Lederer before he called the police to determine whether Delores Smith should be charged with the crime of shoplifting. Mr. Lederer was aware that the Eckerd anti-shoplifting device had been activated as Delores Smith exited the store [T. 314]. Mr. Lederer determined that there had been a concealment of merchandise in Delores Smith's purse which had not been paid for [T. 332]. He then went to the back of the store to speak with pharmacy clerk Maurice Hodges to investigate the matter further [T. 316]. Lederer testified:

- When you approached Ms. Smith and she's holding her bag up, tell us what happened next.
- A I asked her to wait at the counter.
 And I went to the back to ask the clerk what had he told her about the prescription and he said he told her that it had to be paid for up front.

- So, he basically stated that Ms. Smith knew that that particular prescription hadn't been paid for yet, correct?
- A Right.
- Q In other words, Ms. Smith knew that it still had to be paid for?
- A Right.

[T. 317].

In speaking with Hodges, Mr. Lederer learned that Ms. Smith had been instructed to pay for her prescriptions at the front cashier. [T. 316]. Based on the information he had received from Hodges, the fact the check point alarm system had been activated [T. 314] and the lack of any explanation from cashier Elizabeth Robinson or Ms. Smith [T. 319], Mr. Lederer decided to call the police to determine whether Ms. Smith should be charged with the offense of petit theft. [T. 324].

Mr. Lederer's conduct, if assumed to be negligent, or even grossly negligent, is not the sort of conscious, intentional, reckless, outrageous, wanton behavior that has been required by this Court to sustain an award of punitive damages. Petitioner contends that the "gravity of conduct inflicted upon the plaintiffs" in Griffith v. Shamrock Village, Winn Dixie v. Robinson, and the instant case are "comparable". [I.B. 14]. The impact of a defendant's conduct on an individual plaintiff is not relevant to the question of whether punitive damages are properly an issue for the jury. The evidentiary focus for the issue of punitive damages should be on the conduct of Alfred

Lederer and the intent of his actions, not the effect of his conduct on Ms. Smith. It is equally inappropriate to consider the effects of the defendant's conduct in <u>Griffith v. Shamrock</u> Village and <u>Winn Dixie v. Robinson</u>.

The conduct of Alfred Lederer is dissimilar from the conduct which was the basis for punitive damages in <u>Winn Dixie</u> <u>v. Robinson</u>. In <u>Robinson</u>, an employee of Winn Dixie assisted the plaintiff in taking store purchases to his car. The employee saw merchandise in the back of plaintiff's car which he erroneously assumed had been shoplifted when they had actually been purchased by the plaintiff the day before. The Winn Dixie employee returned to the store and consulted with the assistant store manager whereupon, without any investigation or inquiry, the authorities were called and the plaintiff was placed under arrest and his person and vehicle were searched. <u>Robinson v. Winn Dixie Stores, Inc.</u>, 447 So.2d 1003 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

In <u>Robinson</u>, there was <u>no investigation whatsoever</u> by the Winn Dixie employee and the assistant store manager. Further, the Winn Dixie employees <u>falsely concluded</u> that the merchandise in the plaintiff's car had not been paid for. In contrast to the facts in <u>Robinson</u>, the evidence in the instant case shows that Alfred Lederer did conduct an investigation which established that Delores Smith was leaving the store with <u>concealed merchandise</u>, which had in fact <u>not been paid for</u>. These facts are wholly different from those in <u>Robinson</u>, where

the defendants relied solely upon an unsubstantiated suspicion, and called the police without making an investigation or inquiry at all.

The facts in Griffith v. Shamrock Village are also dissimilar from the case at bar. In Griffith the plaintiff's brother attempted to call him at his rental unit to inform him that the location of another brother's wedding, in which he was to be best man, had been changed. The clerk who answered the telephone call was asked to get the plaintiff on the line and replied he would see if the plaintiff was in. After a few minutes the operator was informed that the plaintiff had checked out and left no forwarding address when in fact the plaintiff actually lived there for another two weeks. No message was placed in the plaintiff's box and he missed the wedding. Two days before the incident, plaintiff and his roommates advised the office their mail had been returned to senders marked "moved, left no address" and they were informed that the mistake would not happen again. 94 So.2d at 855-856.

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